



Stress From Uncertainty and Resilience Among Depressed and Burnt Out Residents: Cross-Sectional Study

Citation

Simpkin, Arabella L. 2016. Stress From Uncertainty and Resilience Among Depressed and Burnt Out Residents: Cross-Sectional Study. Master's thesis, Harvard Medical School.

Permanent link

http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:33840759

Terms of Use

This article was downloaded from Harvard University's DASH repository, and is made available under the terms and conditions applicable to Other Posted Material, as set forth at http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:dash.current.terms-of-use#LAA

Share Your Story

The Harvard community has made this article openly available. Please share how this access benefits you. <u>Submit a story</u>.

<u>Accessibility</u>



STRESS FROM UNCERTAINTY AND RESILIENCE AMONG DEPRESSED AND **BURNT OUT RESIDENTS: CROSS-SECTIONAL STUDY**

DR ARABELLA LOUISE SIMPKIN, MA (Oxon) BMBCh MRCPCH

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of

The Harvard Medical School

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of Master of Medical Sciences in Medical Education

Harvard University

Boston, Massachusetts.

May, 2016

Stress from Uncertainty and Resilience Among Depressed and Burnt Out Residents: Cross-Sectional Study

Abstract

Objective: To determine how stress from uncertainty is related to resilience among pediatric residents and whether these attributes are associated with depression and burnout.

Study Design and Setting: Cross-sectional study of 50 residents in pediatric residency programs from four urban freestanding children's hospitals in the United States and Canada.

Main outcome measures: Stress from uncertainty using the Physicians' Reaction to Uncertainty Scale, resilience using the 14-item Resilience Scale, depression using the Harvard national depression screening scale, and burnout using single item measures of emotional exhaustion and depersonalization from the Maslach Burnout Inventory.

Results: There was a strong correlation between stress from uncertainty and resilience (r= -.597; p<0.00001). 5 residents (10%) met the criteria for depression and 15 residents (31%) met the criteria for high burnout. Depressed residents were more likely to be stressed by uncertainty (mean 51.6; SD 9.07 vs. mean 38.7; SD 6.73; p=0.0003) and to lack resilience (mean 56.6; SD 10.7 vs. mean 85.4; SD 7.97; p<0.0001) compared to residents who were not depressed. Burnt out residents were also more likely to be stressed by uncertainty (mean 44; SD 8.46 vs. mean 38.3; SD 7.13; p=0.0186) and to lack resilience (mean 76.7; SD 14.8 vs. mean 85.0; SD 9,77; p=0.0242) compared to residents who were not burnt out. We were able to identify the scores at which stress from uncertainty best predicts depression and burnout.

Conclusion: Depression and burnout are major problems among pediatric residents. We found strong correlations between stress from uncertainty, resilience, depression, and burnout. Efforts to enhance tolerance of uncertainty and resilience among residents may provide opportunities to mitigate resident depression and burnout.

Table of Contents

| 1. | Chapter 1: Background | 1 |
|----|--|----|
| 2. | Chapter 2: Data and Methods | 5 |
| | 2.1 Study Design | 5 |
| | 2.2 Data Collection | 5 |
| | 2.3 Statistical Analysis | 7 |
| | 2.4 Results | |
| | 2.4.1 Physicians' Stress from Uncertainty and Resilience | 9 |
| | 2.4.2 Depression | |
| | 2.4.3 Burnout | |
| 3. | Chapter 3: Discussion and Perspectives | 14 |
| | 3.1 Limitations | |
| | 3.2 Future Research | |
| | 3.3 Conclusion | 19 |

| 4. | Bibliography | |
|----|--------------|--|
|----|--------------|--|

Figures

| Figure 1 | Correlation between resilience and physicians' stress from uncertainty9 | | |
|----------|---|--|--|
| Figure 2 | Physician's reaction to uncertainty scores for depressed and non-depressed residents | | |
| Figure 3 | Subscales for physicians' reaction to uncertainty scores for depressed and non- depressed residents | | |
| Figure 4 | Resilience scores for depressed and non-depressed residents 11 | | |
| Figure 5 | Physician's reaction to uncertainty scores for burnt out and non-burnt out residents | | |
| Figure 6 | re 6 Subscales for physicians' reaction to uncertainty scores for burnt out and non- burnt out residents | | |
| Figure 7 | Resilience scores for burnt out and non-burnt out residents | | |

Tables

| Table 1 | Characteristics of | articipants | 3 |
|---------|--------------------|-------------|---|
|---------|--------------------|-------------|---|

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I thank Helen Riess, MD, Theodore C. Sectish, MD, and Daniel C. West, MD, for inspiration and guidance through this process. I am completely indebted to my research mentors, Christopher P. Landrigan, MD, MPH, and Nancy D. Spector, MD, for inviting me to be part of an incredible community of talented colleagues that makes up the I-PASS Study Team, and for challenging me at each of the right moments with suggestions and comments that lifted the quality of this work. Their generosity of time, wisdom, and thoughtful guidance was boundless. I am particularly grateful to all those involved with the Patient and Family Centered I-PASS study, which is currently ongoing, for embracing the ideas of this research as an additional arm. Without the dedication, generosity of time and effort, and commitment from this group this study would not exist. Alisa Khan, MD, MPH, and Briana Garcia, deserve special mention for their enthusiastic support and guidance. I would also like to thank the team at Brigham and Women's Hospital who worked to allow me access to the data, and to Carter Petty, at Boston Children's Hospital, and Ista Zahn, from the Institute for Quantitative Social Science at Harvard, for invaluable help and direction with the statistical analysis.

I am grateful to the Master of Medical Sciences in Medical Education program leadership, Jennifer C. Kesselheim, MD, MEd, MBE, and Ayres Heller, MEd, for their wisdom, enthusiasm, and support. I am also grateful for the encouragement and belief from so many of my friends both in the United States and in the United Kingdom.

Finally, I am grateful to my community of mentors, Katrina A. Armstrong, MD, Elizabeth H. Gaufberg, MD, MPH, Edward M. Hundert, MD, Christopher P. Landrigan, MD, MPH, Alberto Puig MD, PhD, and Nancy D. Spector, MD for their dedication to fostering my professional, intellectual, and personal development.

Most important, however, are three people. My parents, Paul and Marie-Louise, and my sister, Victoria. They have encouraged me every step of the way, and without their infinite support, belief, and round-the-clock counsel this journey would not be possible. They are my greatest source of inspiration, and there are no words that can adequately describe my depth of gratitude and love.

"Victory has a hundred fathers, and defeat is an orphan," President Kennedy once observed. And so it is with this paper. Any successes are the result of the support given to me. Any failings are my own.

This work was conducted with support from Students in the Master of Medical Sciences in Medical Education program of Harvard Medical School. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of Harvard University and its affiliated academic health care centers. "...at once it struck me what quality went to form a Man of Achievement... when a man is capable of being in uncertainties, mysteries, doubts, without any irritable reaching after fact and reason."

- Keats, December 1817(1)

Chapter 1: Background

"A distressing feature in the life of which you are about to enter ... is the uncertainty which pertains not alone to our science and art, but also to the very hopes and fears which make us men. In seeking out the absolute Truth we aim at the unattainable, and must be content with finding broken portions."

Sir William Osler(2)

The medical landscape has changed dramatically in recent decades and continues to evolve rapidly as we move through the 21st century. Psychological demands on providers are intense, due to high responsibility and high stake outcomes. Resilience would seem essential. Many within the medical profession, both in training grades and beyond, are struggling to cope with these demands(3-5). This can lead to disastrous consequences for the individual physician's mental health(6) with a risk of burnout, disillusionment, depression, and suicidal ideation(7-10). The implication for society is also significant, with wasted years of training highly skilled individuals and wasted investment, diminished productivity, ineffective patient care, medical errors, reduced empathy, and decreased patient satisfaction(11-15). Physicians are slow to seek help(16,17) owing to fears of judgment, stigma(18), and punitive actions(19). Trainee depression and suicide are well-known concerns in the medical community that have not been adequately addressed. In study after study over the past two decades, rates of depression among trainees have been consistently elevated over general population rates(19-21). Better understanding and enhancement of the personal qualities and skills needed to thrive in healthcare's challenging environment is essential.

As Osler observes(2), the practice of medicine involves inherent ambiguity. Uncertainty in the field is, however, generally suppressed and ignored, consciously and subconsciously. Physicians are rationally aware, when pushed or discussing concepts theoretically, that uncertainty exists, but there is a deep-rooted unwillingness to acknowledge and embrace it. Strong defenses against, and denial of, uncertainties are consistent observations made by sociologists studying medical training(22). Tolerance of ambiguity has been studied in the social science literature as a cognitive and emotional personality variable since 1948(23). In a seminal study in 1957, Fox articulated three origins of uncertainty(24): limitations of individual knowledge; limitations of knowledge in the field; and the challenge of distinguishing between the two. Doctors continually make decisions based on imperfect data with limitations of knowledge, diagnostic uncertainty, complexities of treatment and outcome, and an unpredictability of patient responses.

In the face of this reality, medical culture demands and rewards certainty(25,26) and we have an environment that instills a need to be 'right'. Being uncertain is a vulnerable space to occupy, and may induce an affective stress reaction that physicians experience when they are unable to meet the perceived demand for certainty. We need to recognize that what is black and white in the abstract and classroom may rapidly become grey in practice, as clinicians seek to meet their individual patients' needs. Communicating scientific uncertainty is essential for shared decision-making(27) yet traditional medical education fosters a notion that uncertainty is a manifestation of ignorance and failure. A substantial body of literature has suggested that tolerance of ambiguity is an important competency for physicians, linking it to effective communication(28) resource use(29) and rates of burnout in small studies of adult physicians(30,31). However, empirical studies focusing on this attribute are sparse and limited,

and whilst there are suggestions that resident uncertainty may result in delays of care and, in some cases, patient harm(32) there is limited research to rigorously quantify the impact this attribute has on residents. In particular we need to understand at what point an individual's stress from uncertainty begins to have negative consequences. It may be that this could serve to highlight struggling trainees, and could be an important focus for future curricular interventions.

Resilience is born from the interplay between internal disposition and external experience, and is both static and contextual. It is clear from the literature that resilience can be built; it is not an innate trait or fixed state, and is rather a multidimensional construct(33). It connotes inner strength, competence, optimism, flexibility, and the ability to cope effectively when faced with adversity. It is associated with numerous desired outcomes including physical and emotional health(34). Although widely acknowledged in the nursing literature(35) there is scant research about how resilience operates in physicians(36,37). The conscious exploration of resilience with regard to the impact on medical professionals may add new dimensions to learning and reflective practice. Indeed, the level of an individual's resilience may serve as an early warning signal that stressors are overpowering protective factors, flagging those at risk of burnout and depression. Understanding how stress from uncertainty impacts resilience is an important correlation to study.

Pediatricians see a high proportion of undifferentiated illness, and therefore are perhaps particularly exposed to uncertainty in decision-making. The very nature of their patient population results in a subjectivity in history-taking and elicitation of physical signs, and it is a specialty with high emotional demand. The impact reactions to uncertainty have on pediatric trainees is unknown. To address this knowledge gap, we conducted a multi-site study to

quantitatively explore stress from uncertainty and resilience and their impact on the well-being of pediatric trainees.

Chapter 2: Data and Methods

2.1 Study Design

We conducted a cross-sectional study on residents at four pediatric residency training programs in the United States and Canada, after receiving approval from the institutional review boards at all participating institutions. Data were collected from May 2015 through December 2015.

The chosen study units were target units for the Patient and Family-Centered I-PASS Study that is currently on going. This study was conducted concurrently with the collection of data for that effort. All residents in pediatrics and medicine-pediatrics completing an end-ofrotation survey were eligible to participate, except those on extended leave or those working in non-pediatric settings at the time of the study. Residents who agreed to participate in the study gave written informed consent. Participants were aware that we were collecting data on their health during the study. Precautions were taken to secure confidentiality, including the assignment of coded identification numbers and secure storage of data. Participants were informed that the only instance in which confidentiality would be broken would be if they were an immediate danger to themselves or others—that is, showed suicidal or homicidal ideation.

2.2 Data Collection

Participants completed a questionnaire, as part of their end-of-rotation survey, that consisted of several validated scales, including stress from uncertainty, resilience, depression and burnout. Demographic characteristics were also collected.

We used the Physicians' Reaction to Uncertainty scale, developed by Gerrity et al(38-40) which measures affective reactions to uncertainty in clinical situations. Three subscales were included: anxiety caused by uncertainty (Cronbach's alpha=.85); concern about bad outcomes (Cronbach's alpha=.74); and reluctance to disclose uncertainty to patients (Cronbach's alpha=.76). The items are rated on a 6-point Likert scale. Its ability to measure relevant differences in reaction to uncertainty was demonstrated in several studies(29,39,41) and it is distinguished by its well-documented psychometric properties and its relevance to medical situations(38). The subscales are scored quantitatively, with higher values indicating more stress from uncertainty.

The Resilience Scale-14 measures global resilience, reflecting five core characteristics: purpose/meaningfulness, perseverance, self-reliance, equanimity and existential aloneness(34). The 14 items are scored on a 7-point Likert scale, which are summed to arrive at a global score, with a higher score reflecting increased resilience.

We used two standardized screening tools—the Harvard national depression screening day scale(42) and single item measures of emotional exhaustion and depersonalization from the Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI)(43,44)—to assess the prevalence of depressive symptoms and burnout. Both scales were chosen for their brevity, ease of administration, and sensitivity.

The Harvard national depression screening day scale is a 10-item, validated screening tool for depression. A score in the upper third (\geq 9) has been found to be 94% specific and 95% sensitive for a major depressive episode, similar to both the Beck depression inventory and the Zung self-rating depression scale, which are twice the length(42). We defined participants as being depressed if they scored \geq 9.

Although the 22-item MBI is the gold standard for the assessment of burnout in the medical research literature(43,45) its length limits feasibility for use in surveys addressing multiple content areas within space constraints. Burnout was therefore measured using 2 singleitem measures adapted from the MBI. Emotional exhaustion was assessed by the statement, "I feel burned out from my work" and depersonalization by the statement, "I've become more callous toward people since I took this job". Each question was answered on a 7-point Likert scale with response options ranging from "never" to "daily". These 2 items have been shown to stratify risk of burnout in multiple independent samples of physicians and medical students(44,46,47). Consistent with prior literature(43,44,46,48) participants indicating they experienced symptoms in either domain at least weekly were considered to meet the criteria for high burnout.

2.3 Statistical analysis.

Standard univariate statistics were used to characterize the sample. We looked for confounders with the dependent variable using t-tests or one way ANOVA for continuous variables, and Pearson chi square tests for categorical variables. We used Fisher's exact tests for categorical comparisons when distributional assumptions of chi square were not met. All tests were 2-sided, with a type I error level of .05. ROC (receiver operating characteristic) curves were used to assess possible cut-offs for stress from uncertainty scores to predict depression and burnout in pediatric residents. All the analyses were performed using commercially available statistical software (STATA version 14.1; StataCorp LP, TX).

2.4 Results

50 of 86 eligible residents (58%) participated from four sites in North America. No statistical differences were found between age, sex, or postgraduate year for participants and non-participants. There were missing data for resilience, burnout and depression for one resident, and so we excluded this result from our analysis. Table 1 shows the personal data for participants.

| Variable | No (%) of | | |
|----------------------|---|--|--|
| Study site: | | | |
| 1 | 6 (12) | | |
| 2 | 9 (18) | | |
| 3 | 15 (30) | | |
| 4 | 20 (40) | | |
| Year of residency*: | | | |
| Postgraduate year 1 | 27 (54) | | |
| Postgraduate year 2 | 8 (16) | | |
| Postgraduate year 3 | 10 (20) | | |
| Postgraduate year 4 | 1 (2) | | |
| Sex* | | | |
| Women | 31 (62) | | |
| Men | 15 (30) | | |
| Age < 30* | 32 (64) | | |
| *Information missing | *Information missing for 4 participants | | |

 Table 1 | Characteristics of participants.

2.4.1 Physicians' Stress from Uncertainty and Resilience

We looked at resilience as a continuous variable as well as trichotomized into low, moderate and high. 28 residents (57.1%) had high resilience scores. 8 residents (16.3%) had low resilience scores. No association was found between resilience and age (p=.485), sex (p=.249), site (p=.230), or year of residency (p=.918). No association was found between stress from uncertainty and age (p=.907), sex (p=.424), site (p=.439), or year of residency (p=.415).

Overall, there was a strong negative correlation between stress from uncertainty and resilience (r=-.597; p<.00001; Figure 1).



Figure 1 | Correlation between resilience and physicians' stress from uncertainty.

2.4.2 Depression

5 residents (10%) were found to be at high risk for depression. No association was found between depression and age (p=.912), sex (p=.459), or year of residency (p=.298).

Depressed residents were significantly more likely to report their job satisfaction as poor (60%) versus non-depressed residents (4.5%; p=.006).

Depressed residents were significantly more likely to have increased stress from uncertainty (mean 51.6; SD 9.07) than non-depressed residents (mean 38.7; SD 6.73; p=.0003; Figure 2).



Figure 2 | Physicians' reaction to uncertainty scores for depressed and non-depressed residents. P values calculated using two-sided t-test.

Figure 3 shows the subscales within the physicians' reaction to uncertainty score (depressed versus non-depressed residents): anxiety due to uncertainty (mean 21.4, SD 4.04; versus mean 17.5, SD 3.99; p=.0456); concern about bad outcome (mean 12.6, SD 3.78; versus mean 8.18, SD 2.96; p=.0034); reluctance to disclose uncertainty (mean 17.6, SD 2.88; versus mean 13.0, SD 3.42; p=.0061). We looked at the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves for physicians' stress from uncertainty to assess whether there were possible cut-off scores that

could predict depression and burnout. For depression, a physicians' reaction to uncertainty score of 47 had 80% sensitivity and 86% specificity (AUC 0.868; 95% CI 0.65 - 1.0).



Figure 3 | Subscales for physicians' reaction to uncertainty scores for depressed and nondepressed residents. P values calculated using two-sided t-test.

Depressed residents were significantly more likely to have low resilience (80%,) than non-depressed residents (0%; p<.0001). Depressed residents had significantly lower mean resilience scores (56.6; SD 10.7) than non-depressed residents (85.4; SD 7.97; p<.0001; Figure 4).



Figure 4 | Resilience scores for depressed and non-depressed residents. P values calculated using two-sided t-test.

2.4.3 Burnout

15 residents (31%) met the criteria for high burnout. No association was found between burnout and age (p=.243), sex (p=1.0), or year of residency (p=.809). 34 residents (69%) reported feelings of burnout a few times a month or more.

More burnt out residents reported their job satisfaction as poor (20%) versus non-burnt out residents (5.9%; p=.188), but this tendency was not significant.

Burnt out residents were significantly more likely to have increased stress from uncertainty (mean 44; SD 8.46) than non-burnt out residents (mean 38.3; SD 7.13; p=.0186; Figure 5).



Figure 5 | Physicians' reaction to uncertainty scores for burnt out and non-burnt out residents. P values calculated using two-sided t-test.

Figure 6 shows the subscales within the physicians' reaction to uncertainty score (burnt out versus non-burnt-out residents): anxiety due to uncertainty (20.1, SD 3.31; versus mean 17.0, SD 4.14; p=.0140); concern about bad outcome (mean 10, SD 3.50; versus mean 8.03, SD 3.06; p=.0527); reluctance to disclose uncertainty (mean 13.9, SD 3.77; versus mean 13.3, SD 3.60; p=.575). For burnout, a physicians' reaction to uncertainty score of 40 had 80% sensitivity and 59% specificity (AUC 0.691; 95% CI 0.53 – 0.85).



Figure 6 | Subscales for physicians' reaction to uncertainty scores for burnt out and nonburnt out residents. P values calculated using two-sided t-test.

Burnt out residents were significantly more likely to have low resilience (20%) than non burnt-out residents (2.9%; p=.034). Burnt out residents had a significantly lower mean resilience score (76.7; SD 14.8) than non-burnt out residents (85.0; SD 9,77; p=.0242; Figure 7).



Figure 7 | Resilience scores for burnt out and non-burnt out residents. P values calculated using two-sided t-test.

Chapter 3: Discussion and Perspectives

This study extends evidence in support of building and nurturing resilience and a tolerance of uncertainty in our trainees. There was an extremely strong relationship between stress from uncertainty and resilience, suggesting that enhancing a tolerance of uncertainty may also enhance resilience. Residents who were more stressed by uncertainty were significantly more likely to be depressed or burnt out. To our knowledge this is the first paper that looks specifically at the effect of stress from uncertainty in pediatric residents. Similar to previous papers, residents who were lacking resilience were significantly more likely to be depressed or burnt out(49-51). From our results we were able to identify the point on the stress from uncertainty score that best predicts risk of depression and burnout. Previous papers have been inconsistent in reporting higher levels of tolerance of ambiguity in males or females, with some reporting an increase in females(30,52,53) whilst others report an increase in males(54) and others remaining inclusive(55,56). We found stress from uncertainty to be independent of gender and found no association with age or year of residency.

These results have important implications. They suggest that stress from uncertainty and resilience are associated with depression and burnout. It may be that these attributes could prove to be sensitive indicators that could highlight struggling trainees at an early stage. This would be invaluable for program directors globally. How to stem the rise of burnout in healthcare professionals is an important unanswered question(57). These results would suggest that developing interventions to enhance and nurture resilience and tolerance of uncertainty might be the solution we have been seeking for decades.

The high degree of heterogeneity in the development of depression in response to stress is an important public health problem. Rates of depression are reported to be higher among

physicians than in the general population(19,20), and physician suicide rates are substantially higher than in the general population(6,58,59). Our study showed 10% of residents to be depressed. Rates have previously been shown to range from 7-49% for trainees(12,21). Although our results are at the lower end of this spectrum, they are double the rates found in the general population (4-5%)(21). Our results match previous findings that resilience is inversely associated with depression(60). Depressed residents were significantly less likely to disclose uncertainty, which clearly has consequences that affect patients. The high prevalence of psychological distress amongst physicians and the disturbing ramifications this distress can have on residents' professional development, their personal lives, and their patients necessitates a response by institutions and training programs. Looking to improve the mental health of doctors clearly needs to be a priority.

The prevalence of burnout in physicians at all levels of training is extremely worrying(48) with rates in resident physicians ranging from 27% to 75%, and described as being higher than medical students and practicing physicians(61,62). Our study showed 31% of residents meet the cut-off for high burnout (reporting symptoms at least weekly). Interestingly, 69% of residents reported feeling symptoms of burnout several times a month or more, suggesting the majority of residents are affected by this pathological syndrome. More residents reported symptoms of emotional exhaustion than depersonalization, suggesting that the negative effects of burnout have consequences for the individual before it is obvious to the outside world that they are disengaging. Physicians who do burn out are likely to have been functioning suboptimally for some time before they leave the health service(63). This adds weight to the importance of developing early warning signals and surrogate markers that could help to identify trainees who are struggling, for it is often hidden until it reaches dangerous levels(10,64).

Doctors share with military personnel a risk of suffering what is termed 'moral injury'(65,66) which refers to the emotional and psychological damage suffered by people who repeatedly witness, or participate in, acts that contravene moral expectations. These include situations in which the individual is causing suffering; where there is a proximity to death; and where there is a need to function within highly complex and unpredictable situations. This would seem especially true in the field of pediatrics, where the patient often lacks the capacity to understand the benefits behind the procedure or investigation. It would seem especially important, therefore, that resilience is an attribute that is intentionally developed in pediatric trainees. Shifting between moral contexts can itself represent a risk of moral injury(67). The shift from hospital environment to home on a daily basis could represent a shift in moral context. We need to develop resilience to deal with these transitions.

There is much evidence to suggest that both resilience and tolerance of uncertainty are states, not traits, and thus are amenable to change through an educational and experiential process(24,68-70). In our analysis of the subscales (Figure 3) anxiety caused by uncertainty had the highest scores, and was significantly associated with depression and burnout. Reframing uncertainty as a surmountable challenge, not a threat, could help to quell some of this anxiety. Developing an understanding of the uncertainties in our environment, and a resilience toolkit, could help protect physicians from the negative consequences of their challenging environment.

We need to understand whether there is a critical value at which point intolerance of ambiguity becomes destructive. This could help guide us as we work to protect our trainees from the negative consequences of depression and burnout. Our results strongly imply an association between stress from uncertainty and depression and burnout, suggesting we need to invest resources and research energy to explore ways to enhance a tolerance of uncertainty in healthcare

professionals. There are undoubtedly benefits to the frustration and anxiety encountered by physicians when facing ambiguity: it fuels and motivates physicians to continue to evaluate, ponder, and care for patients even when a diagnosis or positive outcome is not readily apparent. However, we need to ensure physicians do not tip into the counterproductive part of this stress that seems to risk leading to disillusionment, burnout, and depression. If we could work out where this spot is, and monitor our trainees, this attribute may serve as an early warning signal. It seems to be a multifaceted, dynamic state and as such is likely to be amenable to interventional efforts to increase it.

This is the first multicenter study to our knowledge to evaluate comprehensively relationships of tolerance of uncertainty with resilience and burnout and depression in a diverse sample of residents located in different geographical areas of North America. This provided us with a representative sample for different types of pediatric residency program. We used survey responses that were completely anonymised, limiting the biases related to social desirability. The use of established psychometric instruments allows for comparison with general population and other samples of medical students, residents, and practicing doctors.

3.1 Limitations

This study focused solely on residents in pediatrics and is a small sample size, so it is unclear how this would translate to other specialties. Although there is no reason to postulate that these relationships would be unique to pediatrics, further studies are needed to quantify the relation across specialties. We used self-reported scales that are susceptible to participant distortion, but participants were unaware of the specific hypothesis of this study and we have no reason to believe that they would have chosen to participate or not on the basis of whether they were depressed or burnt out. The cross-sectional design may have masked temporal relationships between situational variables, and prohibits any causal conclusions from these findings alone. It will be important to identify causal relationships with longitudinal data.

3.2 Future Research

Our positive findings certainly give impetus to further psychometric and conceptual research on the tolerance of ambiguity scales, and the ways in which resilience can be recognized, developed and supported during and after clinical training. Understanding the attributes of resilience and tolerance of uncertainty could be enhanced by research with larger samples of physicians at all levels across specialties. Further studies are needed that concentrate on links between reactions to uncertainty and patient outcomes to establish to what extent it affects quality of care. Whether using some of the psychological tools which test for resilience and tolerance of uncertainty and patient of admission screening and would predict positive outcomes is a subject for future research. It will be important to develop interventions that look at whether improved communication, with an emphasis on acknowledging the

uncertainty in the environment, enhances resilience and mitigates the development of burnout. We need further research into what triggers and drives the development of burnout, for without this knowledge it is hard to know what interventions to recommend.

3.3 Conclusion

Physicians currently learn to manage uncertainty by receiving "a training for certainty" (25). There is an overemphasis on unambiguous facts, soluble problems and correct answers(24,25). Our data call this disposition into question, as intolerance of ambiguity was strongly associated with burnout and depression. As other fields have recognized, acknowledging and embracing uncertainty, may be critical for physicians to thrive in a greyscale world. Doing so may be an important, underutilized means of mitigating burnout and depression.

Bibliography

(1) Keats J. The Letters of John Keats. : Reeves & Turner; 1895.

(2) Osler W. Aequanimitas. : Ravenio Books; 1927.

(3) Goebert D, Thompson D, Takeshita J, Beach C, Bryson P, Ephgrave K, et al. Depressive symptoms in medical students and residents: a multischool study. Acad Med 2009 Feb;84(2):236-241.

(4) Cole TR, Carlin N. The suffering of physicians. Lancet 2009 Oct 24;374(9699):1414-1415.

(5) Dyrbye LN, Power DV, Massie F, Eacker A, Harper W, Thomas MR, et al. Factors associated with resilience to and recovery from burnout: a prospective, multi-institutional study of US medical students. Med Educ 2010;44(10):1016-1026.

(6) Lindeman S, Laara E, Hakko H, Lonnqvist J. A systematic review on gender-specific suicide mortality in medical doctors. Br J Psychiatry 1996 Mar;168(3):274-279.

(7) Jauhar S. Doctored: The disillusionment of an American physician. : Macmillan; 2014.

(8) Mateen FJ, Dorji C. Health-care worker burnout and the mental health imperative. The Lancet 2009;374(9690):595-597.

(9) Dyrbye LN, Thomas MR, Massie FS, Power DV, Eacker A, Harper W, et al. Burnout and suicidal ideation among US medical students. Ann Intern Med 2008;149(5):334-341.

(10) Shanafelt TD, Balch CM, Dyrbye L, Bechamps G, Russell T, Satele D, et al. Special report: suicidal ideation among American surgeons. Archives of surgery 2011;146(1):54-62.

(11) Fahrenkopf AM, Sectish TC, Barger LK, Sharek PJ, Lewin D, Chiang VW, et al. Rates of medication errors among depressed and burnt out residents: prospective cohort study. BMJ 2008 Mar 1;336(7642):488-491.

(12) Shanafelt TD, Bradley KA, Wipf JE, Back AL. Burnout and self-reported patient care in an internal medicine residency program. Ann Intern Med 2002;136(5):358-367.

(13) West CP, Huschka MM, Novotny PJ, Sloan JA, Kolars JC, Habermann TM, et al. Association of perceived medical errors with resident distress and empathy: a prospective longitudinal study. JAMA 2006;296(9):1071-1078.

(14) Dewa CS, Loong D, Bonato S, Thanh NX, Jacobs P. How does burnout affect physician productivity? A systematic literature review. BMC health services research 2014;14(1):1.

(15) Haas JS, Cook EF, Puopolo AL, Burstin HR, Cleary PD, Brennan TA. Is the professional satisfaction of general internists associated with patient satisfaction? J Gen Intern Med 2000;15(2):122-128.

(16) Gross CP, Mead LA, Ford DE, Klag MJ. Physician, heal thyself?: regular source of care and use of preventive health services among physicians. Arch Intern Med 2000;160(21):3209-3214.

(17) Tyssen R, Vaglum P. Mental health problems among young doctors: an updated review of prospective studies. Harv Rev Psychiatry 2002;10(3):154-165.

(18) Myers MF. Medical marriages and other intimate relationships. Med J Aust 2004;181(7):392.

(19) Center C, Davis M, Detre T, Ford DE, Hansbrough W, Hendin H, et al. Confronting depression and suicide in physicians: a consensus statement. JAMA 2003;289(23):3161-3166.

(20) Thommasen HV, Lavanchy M, Connelly I, Berkowitz J, Grzybowski S. Mental health, job satisfaction, and intention to relocate. Opinions of physicians in rural British Columbia. Can Fam Physician 2001 Apr;47:737-744.

(21) Sen S, Kranzler HR, Krystal JH, Speller H, Chan G, Gelernter J, et al. A prospective cohort study investigating factors associated with depression during medical internship. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2010;67(6):557-565.

(22) Bucher R, Stelling JG. Becoming professional. Sage; 1977.

(23) Budner S. Intolerance of ambiguity as a personality variable. J Pers 1962.

(24) Fox RC. Training for uncertainty. The student-physician. Cambridge: Harvard University Press; 1957. p. 207-241.

(25) Atkinson P. Training for certainty. Soc Sci Med 1984;19(9):949-956.

(26) Fox RC. The evolution of medical uncertainty. The Milbank Memorial Fund Quarterly.Health and Society 1980:1-49.

(27) Elwyn G, Edwards A, Kinnersley P, Grol R. Shared decision making and the concept of equipoise: the competences of involving patients in healthcare choices. Br J Gen Pract 2000 Nov;50(460):892-899.

(28) Kavanagh KH, Kennedy PH. Promoting cultural diversity: Strategies for health care professionals. 1992.

(29) Allison JJ, Kiefe CI, Cook EF, Gerrity MS, Orav EJ, Centor R. The association of physician attitudes about uncertainty and risk taking with resource use in a Medicare HMO. Med Decis Making 1998 Jul-Sep;18(3):320-329.

(30) Bachman KH, Freeborn DK. HMO physicians' use of referrals. Soc Sci Med 1999;48(4):547-557.

(31) Kuhn G, Goldberg R, Compton S. Tolerance for uncertainty, burnout, and satisfaction with the career of emergency medicine. Ann Emerg Med 2009;54(1):106-113. e6.

(32) Farnan JM, Johnson JK, Meltzer DO, Humphrey HJ, Arora VM. Resident uncertainty in clinical decision making and impact on patient care: a qualitative study. Qual Saf Health Care 2008 Apr;17(2):122-126.

(33) Luthar SS, Cicchetti D, Becker B. The construct of resilience: A critical evaluation and guidelines for future work. Child Dev 2000;71(3):543-562.

(34) Wagnild G. A review of the Resilience Scale. J Nurs Meas 2009;17(2):105-113.

(35) Jackson D, Firtko A, Edenborough M. Personal resilience as a strategy for surviving and thriving in the face of workplace adversity: a literature review. J Adv Nurs 2007;60(1):1-9.

(36) Cooke GP, Doust JA, Steele MC. A survey of resilience, burnout, and tolerance of uncertainty in Australian general practice registrars. BMC Med Educ 2013 Jan 7;13:2-6920-13-2.

(37) Longenecker R, Zink T, Florence J. Teaching and learning resilience: building adaptive capacity for rural practice. A report and subsequent analysis of a workshop conducted at the Rural Medical Educators Conference, Savannah, Georgia, May 18, 2010. The Journal of Rural Health 2012;28(2):122-127.

(38) Gerrity MS, DeVellis RF, Earp JA. Physicians' reactions to uncertainty in patient care: A new measure and new insights. Med Care 1990:724-736.

(39) Gerrity MS, White KP, DeVellis RF, Dittus RS. Physicians' reactions to uncertainty: refining the constructs and scales. Motiv Emotion 1995;19(3):175-191.

(40) Gerrity MS, Earp JAL, DeVellis RF, Light DW. Uncertainty and professional work: perceptions of physicians in clinical practice. American Journal of Sociology 1992:1022-1051.

(41) Ghosh AK. On the challenges of using evidence-based information: the role of clinical uncertainty. J Lab Clin Med 2004;144(2):60-64.

(42) Baer L, Jacobs DG, Meszler-Reizes J, Blais M, Fava M, Kessler R, et al. Development of a brief screening instrument: the HANDS. Psychother Psychosom 2000;69(1):35-41.

(43) Maslach C, Jackson SE, Leiter MP. Maslach burnout inventory manual. 3rd ed. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press; 1996.

(44) West CP, Dyrbye LN, Sloan JA, Shanafelt TD. Single item measures of emotional exhaustion and depersonalization are useful for assessing burnout in medical professionals. J Gen Intern Med 2009;24(12):1318-1321.

(45) Schaufeli W. Stress in health professionals: psychological and organizational causes and interventions. Burnout.Chichester, NY: Wiley 1999.

(46) West CP, Dyrbye LN, Satele DV, Sloan JA, Shanafelt TD. Concurrent validity of singleitem measures of emotional exhaustion and depersonalization in burnout assessment. J Gen Intern Med 2012;27(11):1445-1452.

(47) West CP, Shanafelt TD, Kolars JC. Quality of life, burnout, educational debt, and medical knowledge among internal medicine residents. JAMA 2011;306(9):952-960.

(48) Thomas NK. Resident burnout. JAMA 2004;292(23):2880-2889.

(49) Howe A, Smajdor A, Stöckl A. Towards an understanding of resilience and its relevance to medical training. Med Educ 2012;46(4):349-356.

(50) Riley GJ. Understanding the stresses and strains of being a doctor. Med J Aust 2004;181(7):350.

(51) Shanafelt TD, Sloan JA, Habermann TM. The well-being of physicians. Am J Med 2003;114(6):513-519.

(52) Geller G, Faden RR, Levine DM. Tolerance for ambiguity among medical students: implications for their selection, training and practice. Soc Sci Med 1990;31(5):619-624.

(53) Bovier PA, Perneger TV. Stress from uncertainty from graduation to retirement—a population-based study of Swiss physicians. J Gen Intern Med 2007;22(5):632-638.

(54) Caulfield M, Andolsek K, Grbic D, Roskovensky L. Ambiguity tolerance of students matriculating to U.S. medical schools. Acad Med 2014 Nov;89(11):1526-1532.

(55) Foxman P. Tolerance for ambiguity: Implications for mental health. Encyclopedia of Clinical Assessment 1980;1:455.

(56) Geller G, Tambor ES, Chase GA, Holtzman NA. Measuring physicians' tolerance for ambiguity and its relationship to their reported practices regarding genetic testing. Med Care 1993:989-1001.

(57) Shanafelt TD, Hasan O, Dyrbye LN, Sinsky C, Satele D, Sloan J, et al. Changes in burnout and satisfaction with work-life balance in physicians and the general US working population between 2011 and 2014. Mayo Clin Proc 2015;90(12):1600-1613.

(58) Hampton T. Experts address risk of physician suicide. JAMA 2005;294(10):1189-1191.

(59) Hawton K, Clements A, Sakarovitch C, Simkin S, Deeks JJ. Suicide in doctors: a study of risk according to gender, seniority and specialty in medical practitioners in England and Wales, 1979-1995. J Epidemiol Community Health 2001 May;55(5):296-300.

(60) Wagnild G, Young HM. Resilience among older women. J Nurs Scholarsh 1990;22(4):252-255.

(61) Martini S, Arfken CL, Churchill MA, Balon R. Burnout comparison among residents in different medical specialties. Academic Psychiatry 2004;28(3):240-242.

(62) IsHak WW, Lederer S, Mandili C, Nikravesh R, Seligman L, Vasa M, et al. Burnout during residency training: a literature review. J Grad Med Educ 2009;1(2):236-242.

(63) Firth-Cozens J. Interventions to improve physicians' well-being and patient care. Soc Sci Med 2001;52(2):215-222.

(64) Shanafelt TD, Balch CM, Bechamps G, Russell T, Dyrbye L, Satele D, et al. Burnout and medical errors among American surgeons. Ann Surg 2010 Jun;251(6):995-1000.

(65) Steenkamp MM, Litz BT, Gray MJ, Lebowitz L, Nash W, Conoscenti L, et al. A brief exposure-based intervention for service members with PTSD. Cogn Behav Pract 2011;18(1):98-107.

(66) Litz BT, Stein N, Delaney E, Lebowitz L, Nash WP, Silva C, et al. Moral injury and moral repair in war veterans: A preliminary model and intervention strategy. Clin Psychol Rev 2009;29(8):695-706.

(67) Berkman LF, Glass T. Social integration, social networks, social support, and health. Social epidemiology 2000;1:137-173.

(68) Jensen PM, Trollope-Kumar K, Waters H, Everson J. Building physician resilience. Can Fam Physician 2008 May;54(5):722-729.

(69) Zwack J, Schweitzer J. If every fifth physician is affected by burnout, what about the other four? Resilience strategies of experienced physicians. Acad Med 2013 Mar;88(3):382-389.

(70) Epstein RM, Krasner MS. Physician resilience: what it means, why it matters, and how to promote it. Acad Med 2013 Mar;88(3):301-303.